#### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

#### **DOCKET NO. 22-ICA-54**

ICA EFiled: Dec 02 2022 02:41PM EST

**Transaction ID 68497135** 

YMCA OF PARKERSBURG, Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

VS.

WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES, Plaintiff Below, Respondent

West Virginia Department of Health and Human Services
Office of Inspector General Board of Review
Todd Thornton, State Hearing Examiner
1900 Kanawha Boulevard East
Building 6, Room 817B
Charleston, West Virginia 25305

#### BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER, YMCA OF PARKERSBURG

#### Counsel for Petitioner

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Now comes the Petitioner, YMCA of Parkersburg, by Robert L. Bays and Bowles Rice LLP as counsel of record and makes the following Assignments of Error.

Assignment of Error No. 1. The Decision of August 3, 2022, made by Todd Thornton, State Hearing Officer, is contrary to the greater weight of the evidence, clearly wrong in view of reliable, probative and substantial evidence and therefore arbitrary and capricious. This Appeal deals with two cases, which were consolidated for hearing, and are consolidated in this Petition for Appeal. Both cases involve the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources, hereinafter referred to as "WVHHR", rendered a decision in both cases that the Parkersburg YMCA had terminated child care for Child LG and Child LW without a two-week notice and were properly issued a first offense "Strike One" corrective action against the YMCA resulting in a loss of federally funded stabilization payments to the YMCA of over \$252,000.00. The evidence clearly shows that both Child LG and Child LW were issued only a suspension with an allowed return date to the YMCA and in fact, not terminated;

Assignment of Error No. 2. The actions of the WVDHHR in suspending the YMCA's stabilization payments for an alleged first offense or Strike One are contrary to law and the authority of the Agency; and

Assignment of Error No. 3. The actions of the WVDHHR have the practical effect of the issuance of a fine against the YMCA by virtue of the denial of stabilization payments,

which is contrary to the lawful authority of the WVDHHR as an Agency and, even if lawful, constitutes an excessive fine or penalty contrary to law.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **Preface**

There are two cases consolidated before the Hearing Officer below, and in this Appeal. Both cases dealt with the issuance of a strike one by the WVDHHR against the YMCA. The impact of the issuance of each strike was a denial of Stabilization funding to the YMCA for two of its facilities resulting in a total loss of funding of \$252,000.00.

Procedurally, the strikes were issues by the WVDHHR and the YMCA was afforded a hearing before WVDHHR Board of Review. That hearing occurred on June 31, 2022. Hearing Officer, Todd Thornton issued an opinion upholding the strikes on August 3, 2022. See *Appendix*, Exhibit 10. The Petitioner timely filed its Notice of Appeal of that decision on August 25, 2022. The facts relating to each case and the proceedings are set forth hereafter.

#### Case No. 22 BOR 1508

In the above-captioned case, the YMCA received a notification of Provider Regulatory Status dated March 25, 2022, citing the YMCA for terminating child care services without an appropriate two-week notification. See *Appendix*, p. 3. Kristall Chambers was a supervisor of family services at Choices in its' Parkersburg Office and investigated the complaints of the parent of Child LW. Chambers' testimony indicated that she was attempting to get child care for its LW and in talking with the parent was advised that the child care services had been terminated by the Parkersburg YMCA. See *Transcript*, pp. 7 and 8. The parent advised

Ms. Chambers of the termination and Ms. Chambers testified that the duty rests on the YMCA to give a two-week notice of termination to the WVDHHR.

Chambers testified that per WVDHHR policy, that the first strike is considered a warning, the second strike requires an improvement plan, and the third strike requires removal of the Provider Service Agreement, see *Transcript*, pp. 9 and 10. The services that were provided to LW were provided at the Parkersburg's YMCA. Chambers testified that normally a first strike would be just a warning. However, because of the extra funding of COVID, it resulted in a suspension of payments to the YMCA of \$10,000.00 a month. See *Transcript*, p. 12. Chambers admitted that under normal circumstances the first warning would have no financial impact to the YMCA. See *Transcript*, p. 13. Ms. Chambers acknowledged that if there was no expulsion or termination of proceedings, there would be no reason for the YMCA to notify the WVDHHR. See *Transcript*, p. 14. Chambers further stated that when she investigated the complaints in both cases, that she did not talk to the YMCA about their side of the case before issuing the first strike. See Transcript, p. 14. Ms. Chambers indicated that she relied on the providers' billing to determine the child was terminated as the YMCA's evidence. See *Transcript*, pp. 14 and 15. She also acknowledged that a YMCA can suspend services for a child. Ms. Chambers acknowledged that the parent of LW acknowledged that she had received a suspension from the YMCA. In fact, Chambers testified that the mother of LW acknowledged that she was going to try another place other than the YMCA. See *Transcript*, pp. 16 and 17. After avoiding the question regarding whether or not the LW child was suspended, under cross-examination on pages 16 through 17, Ms. Chambers finally admitted that the child was suspended until March 17, 2022. Chambers' evasive testimony on the issue between a suspension and termination is illustrated on page 18 of the Transcript, where she kept trying to avoid answering questions about whether or not she had asked

anybody at the YMCA whether or not they had terminated services or simply issued a suspension. Finally, at the bottom of page 18 of the *Transcript*, she admitted not contacting the YMCA before issuing the strike.

Katie Flinn testified on behalf of the YMCA with respect to LW. Flinn testified that the Provider Agreement between the YMCA and the parents respecting child care services specifically provides that a child can be either suspended or terminated. See *Transcript*, p. 41. See also, Appendix, p. 7, ¶11. Flinn testified that up until two weeks prior to the hearing, the YMCA had never terminated the child from their child care facility. However, the termination that had occurred in the prior week had been based upon a two-week notice. See *Transcript*, p. 42. The issues with LW with respect to his behavior that resulted in the suspension were that LW put his hands on other children leaving bruises, not listening, not following instructions. See Transcript, p. 42. See exhibits produced by the YMCA, see Appendix 8, pp. 50 and 51. Exhibit 8, Appendix, p. 51 clearly indicated that LW could return to the YMCA on March 17, 2022, when his behavioral specialist returned to meet with him, and that document was signed by his mother. See *Transcript*, p. 43. The behavioral specialist did report to the YMCA on the 17th, expecting to meet with LW and LW did not show up. See Transcript, p. 43. As far as the YMCA was concerned, LW was suspended from March 8 until March 17. Flinn testified that LW was not terminated and was maintained on the active roster. See *Transcript*, p. 43. Flinn further testified that if a YMCA participant was terminated that they would be taken off the active record and that the YMCA participant record is a business record kept in the ordinary course of business. See Transcript, pp. 43 and 44. Flinn further testified that LW was not sent a termination notice because he was welcome back to the facility starting on March 17, 2022. See *Transcript*, p. 44.

#### Case No. 22 BOR 1509

Teresa Wascom, an assistant director of Choices Child Care Resources, investigated the LG claim. See *Transcript*, p. 19. LG was attending the YMCA child care facility in Williamstown. Wascom testified that she was advised by LG's foster parent that child care services had been terminated by the YMCA on February 14, 2022. She did not become aware of the termination until April 5, 2022. See *Transcript*, p. 20. Wascom issued a first strike upon the advice of her supervisors. Wascom also testified that other than for the COVID funding, the result of the first strike was that no action would have been taken against the YMCA. Wascom confirmed that the Stabilization Funding resulted in a financial penalty to the YMCA by virtue of the first strike. See *Wascom Testimony*, pp. 21 and 22. Wascom testified that she had not investigated the YMCA side of the story because the first strike was only considered a warning. See *Transcript*, p. 23. Wascom acknowledged that she did not investigate the YMCA's side of the story. See *Transcript*, p. 24. Wascom further acknowledged that the YMCA was providing child care services to the sibling of LG. See *Transcript*, p. 24.

Jeff Olson, the Director of the Parkersburg YMCA, testified to the YMCA's position with respect to LG. Olson testified that the impact of the strikes on the YMCA was the loss of \$10,000.00 of Stabilization payments per month at the Williamstown facility for the LW Child and \$11,000.00 for funding at the Parkersburg YMCA for LG. See *Transcript*, p. 35.

Olston testified that LG suffers from PTSD and is in foster care. Olson had reached out to LG's foster mother about an incident in which LG hit one of the YMCA's staff people. Olson explained to the mother the suspension policy and the fact that there could be a termination depending upon what his future behavior was. See *Transcript*, p. 36. Olson testified that although

under the YMCA policy LG was eligible to be terminated, that he sought to investigate, and learned from the foster mother there were issues regarding the child's medication, and it had been changed. See *Transcript*, p. 36. The foster mother also requested that Olson investigate his behavior by contacting the Williamstown Elementary School, which Olson proceeded to do, and then called the foster mother back and advised that they were going to suspend LG for the remainder of the week and the following week and invited him to come back hopefully at a time when his medication would have a chance to level out and his behavior would improve. See *Transcript*, p. 37. Olson advised that the foster parent was appreciative and did not indicate that she would not be coming back. The next thing that occurred with respect to the LG matter as far as the YMCA was concerned was the issuance of the first strike. Olson acknowledged that there was no investigation by the WVDHHR with respect to the YMCA's side of the story with respect to LG. Olson testified that Exhibit 8 to the Hearing, *Appendix*, p. 92, was the active roster of students at the relevant time periods and that LG's name was on the active roster because he had never been terminated by the YMCA.

Katie Flinn testified that LG was welcome to return to the YMCA on February 28, 2022, and that she had confirmed that return date with his parent. See *Transcript*, p. 44. Flinn testified that when a child doesn't show up or is on suspension that the YMCA does not bill for child care services. See *Transcript*, p. 45. She indicated that the only exception was if the child was out for COVID, they are allowed to bill but that neither LW or LG were out because of COVID. See *Transcript*, pp. 45 and 46.

Denise Richmond, the Child Care Policy Specialist, with the WVDHHR, testified that the basis for the cessation of the of the stabilization payments to the Parkersburg YMCA was

because they were not in good standing with their Provider Service Agreement. See *Transcript*, pp. 28 and 29. Richmond testified to the three-strike policy, namely strike one is a warning letter, strike two is corrective action and retraining and strike three would be revocation of the Provider Service Agreement, which stops any subsidy funding from the WVDHHR. See *Transcript*, p. 29. Richmond went on to state that with respect to the COVID funding, the Stabilization payments, that the second strike would not have resulted in any greater penalty than the first strike, except that the Stabilization Funding could be withheld for a longer period of time. Finally, Richmond testified that even with the issuance of a strike one and strike two, that the Parkersburg YMCA could continue to receive regular subsidy payments from the WVDHHR. See *Transcript*, p. 30.

#### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Standard of Review is contained in West Virginia Code §29A-5-4(g) and is set forth as follows:

- (g) The court may affirm the order or decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. It shall reverse, vacate, or modify the order or decision of the agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, decision, or order are:
  - (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
  - (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency;
  - (3) Made upon unlawful procedures;
  - (4) Affected by other error of law;
  - (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

(6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion

The Standard of Review for an excessive fine or monetary penalty is *de novo*. See *Perrine v. E.I. DuPont du Nemours and Company*, 225 W. Va. 482 (2010).

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Parkersburg YMCA operates numerous child care facilities in Wood County, West Virginia. Two of its facilities were issued a strike one by the WVDHHR. The basis for the issuance of the strike one in each instance was the alleged termination of child care services for one child at the Williamstown facility and for another child at the main Parkersburg YMCA facility. The issuances of the strikes resulted in a cessation of funding of Federal stabilization payments costing the YMCA \$252,000.00. Prior to the availability of Federal stabilization funds, the issuance of a first strike to either facility would have resulted in no cessation of any payments, no penalty, or no fine, as detailed in the statement of the case. The YMCA was afforded a hearing before Hearing Officer Todd Thornton of the WVDHHR's Board of Review. The result of the hearing was that Hearing Officer Thornton affirmed the issuance of the strikes and the cessation of the stabilization payments. By this appeal, the YMCA seeks to reverse the decision of the Hearing Officer, invalidate the issuance of the strikes and reinstate the denied stabilization benefits.

The arguments asserted by the YMCA in support of its appeal are three-fold. The first is that the decision of the Hearing Officer was against the clear weight of the evidence and therefore arbitrary and capricious. As will be demonstrated in the argument, the strikes were issued against the YMCA without a full investigation of the YMCA's side of the story and were based

on the faulty assumption that simply because the children's names were not contained in the billing information provided by the YMCA, that their services had been terminated. This assumption by the WVDHHR's investigators is based on the false premise that the only reason for the children not to be billed for services was that they had been terminated for the program. In fact, children are often not on the billing cycle because they have not received services, by their own choice, or were ill during the particular period, or perhaps, as in this case, they had been suspended from receiving services because of inappropriate behavior at YMCA facilities. The WVDHHR acknowledged at the hearing that the YMCA has the right to suspend child care services and that a suspension is different from a termination. Further, it goes without saying that if the YMCA had submitted names of children for subsidy payments by the WVDHHR that were not receiving services, fraud had would have been committed. Accordingly, when the YMCA issued suspensions to the two children in question, it would have been inappropriate for the YMCA to seek compensation when services had not been provided. However, it has been the YMCA's position that neither of the two children were terminated, which would have required a written two-week notification, but rather was simply suspended.

The next ground of appeal sought by the YMCA is based upon the fact that under the statutes and Legislative Rule, that there is no authority for the WVDHHR to suspend payments to a child care provider as a form of penalty. As recited in the argument hereafter, the statutes and Legislative Rules give the WVDHHR the authority to terminate licensure, limit licensure or suspend licensure to a facility, which would in the denial of subsidy payments issued by the WVDHHR. However, there is no statutory authority for penalizing a child care facility by limiting payments to the facility that it would otherwise be entitled to. In the instant case, the YMCA

license was not suspended or limited or terminated. In fact, the YMCA continued, and has continued, to provide child care services and receive subsidy payments from the WVDHHR.

Finally, the third ground for appeal is that the resulting penalty to the YMCA is excessive in nature. The WVDHHR investigators that testified in the case, both agreed that prior to the availability of stabilization funds from the Federal Government that the issuance of a first strike was simply a warning. In fact, both testified that because of the issuance of the first strike was a warning that they did not have to contact the YMCA for their side of the story because there was no impact. However, in this case, the impact was great as the YMCA, although it continued to meet the Federal program guidelines in providing child care services, was denied \$252,000.00 in payments. As set forth in the following argument, the result of the WVDHHR's action in issuing this strike is in essence a fine or penalty to the YMCA and clearly excessive.

#### V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner requests that this matter be set for oral argument under Rule 20.

#### VI. LAW AND ARGUMENT

#### **Assignment of Error No. 1**

The Decision of August 3, 2022, made by Todd Thornton, State Hearing Officer, is contrary to the greater weight of the evidence, clearly wrong in view of reliable, probative and substantial evidence and therefore arbitrary and capricious. This Appeal deals with two cases, which were consolidated for hearing, and are consolidated in this Petition for Appeal. Both cases involve the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources, hereinafter referred to as "WVHHR", rendered a decision in both cases that the Parkersburg YMCA had terminated child care for Child LG and Child LW without a two-week notice and were properly issued a first offense

"Strike One" corrective action against the YMCA resulting in a loss of federally funded stabilization payments to the YMCA of over \$252,000.00. The evidence clearly shows that both Child LG and Child LW were issued only a suspension with an allowed return date to the YMCA and in fact, not terminated.

#### Law and Argument - Assignment of Error No. 1

It goes without saying that the hearing officer herein, or any trier of fact, cannot either create or ignore unrebutted evidence. In this case, the testimony of both investigators, Chambers and Wascom, should have been subject to scrutiny at the outset because they failed in adhering to one of the most basic concepts of an investigation, which is to get both sides of the story. The explanation offered by both is that because a first strike by WVDHHR policy prior to the receipt of the COVID Stabilization Funds was merely a warning, which contained no financial impact and required no remedial efforts by the child care provider, no investigation was required. Further, the first strike, even in this case, did not affect the WVDHHR subsidy. In other words, it is a fact that the YMCA was still deemed to be a viable provider of child care services by the WVDHHR, even with the issuance of a first strike against two of its facilities. Secondly, the evidence established by the YMCA was clear and that is that both children, LW and LG, were only suspended. The testimony is conclusive that a suspension would not have required reporting to anybody at the WVDHHR or its contract administrators. The documents established from the YMCA show that a letter written by the parent of LW acknowledged that her child was suspended. See Appendix Transcript, p. 16. Further, the YMCA's suspension documents clearly indicated on their face that the two children in question were being suspended. The YMCA's participation logs, which were established as a business record kept in the ordinary course of business, indicated that both children were still active in the program.

Accordingly, the only evidence adduced by the WVDHHR, other than the parental claims, that there was an actual termination of either child was based upon the fact that the WVDHHR was not billed for the child care services. See *Testimony of Chambers, Transcript*, p. 14. However, the fact that the children were not listed on the billing is not proof of termination. A child would not be billed for if they did not show up and receive services, unless the child care participant was prevented from attending child care due to COVID. A child would not show up on the billing records if they had been suspended pursuant to the Providers Services Agreement. The Providers Services Agreement, with respect to both children, clearly provide that the YMCA is entitled to suspend children, which is the case for both of the children in question. The parental claims are clearly contradicted by the YMCA's reports signed by the parents.

Although the documentation from the YMCA is clear that neither of these children were terminated, the Court should pay particular attention to Chambers' testimony, *Transcript*, pp. 7 and 8. Chambers testified that when the mother of LG contacted her to seek placement at another facility that she could not do so unless there had been a termination at the YMCA. Herein lies the dilemma for a YMCA or any other child care provider. If they suspend a child from their child care facility for misconduct, a parent will go seek to find another subsidized child care provider. The only way a parent can then obtain such services as testified to by Chambers would be if there had been a previous termination. Accordingly, a parent, in this situation, is always influenced to claim a termination so that they can get substitute child care at another subsidized facility.

Under West Virginia law, a trier of facts findings will be set aside where they are clearly against the greater weight of the evidence or simply wrong. If the trial judge finds the

verdict is against the clear weight of the evidence, is based upon false evidence, or will result in the miscarriage of justice, the trial judge may set aside the verdict, even if supported by substantial evidence, and grant a new trial. *Sayre v. Roop*, 205 W. Va. 193, 196 (1999). The trial judge is vested with discretion in supervising verdicts and preventing miscarriages of justice and holds the power to award a new trial if the verdict rendered by a jury is plainly wrong - even if it is supported by some of the evidence. *Cook v. Harris*, Syl. Pt. 1, 159 W. Va. 641 (1976).

Here the finding of the Hearing Officer that there had been a termination can only be based on the testimony of the two witnesses, Wascom and Chambers. Since neither Wascom nor Chambers sought to investigate the YMCA's side of the story, the only basis they gave for the termination was the fact that there were no billings for either of the children. The investigators did not see the documents signed by the parents before issuing the strikes. This testimony is based on the false premise that the only reason there would be for no billings would be a termination, when in fact it could be that the child simply did not show up for services as many do from time to time or had been rightfully suspended, which is the case for both of these children. The findings made by the trial examiner are contrary to the greater weight of evidence and further based upon unreliable evidence from the investigators, Chambers and Wascom, and should be set aside. The YMCA's reports, signed by the parents, show that the parents were advised of the suspensions, which contradicts their claims of termination.

The only credible evidence adduced at the hearing came from the YMCA with respect to both its corporate records, documents signed or authored by the parents and from the testimony of YMCA officials, Flinn and Olson, that neither child had been terminated, both had merely been suspended. Since the only basis for the imposition of the first strike penalty was the

alleged fact that the YMCA did not give two-week notice of a termination, the findings of the Hearing Officer should be reversed and the YMCA entitled to the Stabilization payments, which were withheld based on the issuance of the first strike.

#### **Assignment of Error No. 2**

The actions of the WVDHHR in suspending the YMCA's stabilization payments for an alleged first offense or Strike One are contrary to law and the authority of the Agency.

#### Law and Argument - Assignment of Error No. 2

THE WVDHHR has statutory authority for the licensure and operation of child care facilities, generally, under West Virginia Code §49-2-101 *et seq.* West Virginia Code §49-2-116 grants the agency the authority to investigate complaints regarding child care facilities. West Virginia Code §49-2-117 gives the WVDHHR the authority to revoke the licensure of a child care facility for any material violation of the Code Section. West Virginia Code §49-2-118 gives the agency the authority to close a facility if it constitutes an immediate danger or serious harm to children. Finally, West Virginia Code §49-2-120 provides for the penalties for violating the provisions of West Virginia Code as they relate to child care facilities. West Virginia Code §49-2-120 provides for a fine of \$500.00 and a jail sentence of up to one year for operating a child care facility without a license in Section (a) and in Section (b) provides for a \$500.00 fine for operating a family child care facility without a license. In §49-2-120(c), the agency is given the authority to seek injunctive relief where there is immediate or serious harm threatened the children. Accordingly, the West Virginia statutes that deal with child care give the agency the authority to revoke the licensure of a child care facility, to have fines imposed and a possible jail sentence in

instances in which there are operations without a license and to seek injunctions where necessary to protect children from harm.

The Legislative Rules relating to child care centers is found in Title 78. Section 78-1-5.3 provides that when an inspection for a complaint finds non-compliance with this rule, the secretary may require a plan of correction. Section 78-1-24 provides that the agency may make a license provisional or order closure in accordance with West Virginia Code Chapter 49, Article 2 (Part 1).

In neither of the two cases, that are the subject of this appeal, did the WVDHHR enforce any of the remedies authorized by either statute or Legislative Rule. That is to say that the license of the YMCA to operate its child care facility at the main Parkersburg YMCA and the Williamstown facility was not limited in any fashion. The licenses for both facilities were not suspended or revoked, as the facilities continued their operations. Both facilities continued to receive funding from the WVDHHR after each of these incidences. Further, the YMCA was not even given a plan of correction pursuant to West Virginia Legislative Rule 78-1-5.3. The undersigned represents to the Court that he has been unable to locate in either of the West Virginia statutes or the West Virginia Legislative Rules a basis for the strike system testified to by Denise Richmond. Apparently, the strike system, prior to the availability of the Federal Stabilization funds, was an internal procedure developed by the agency for the purpose of determining when a limitation or revocation of a license should occur. However, none of the statutes or the Legislative Rules provide that the agency has the ability to restrict funding in any fashion as a penalty to a child care facility. In fact, as was testified by Denise Richmond, in the time period before the Federal Stabilization funds were available, the issuance of a first strike and a second strike contained no monetary penalty, and the facility would continue its operations and continue to

receive its funding. As set forth by Denise Richmond, the second strike would have resulted in a plan of corrective action, which is in accordance with both the Code and the Legislative Rules. Even the issuance of a third strike did not result in a monetary penalty, but rather a license revocation.

The agency has published a West Virginia Child Care Stabilization Payment Policy and Procedural Manual, a copy of which is hereto attached as *Exhibit 1*, for the convenience of the Court. That Policy does not contain in its definition of program terms any definition of a strike one, two or three or the issuance of a strike. The Policy does provide a definition for revoke or revocation in Paragraph 1.1.12. That Policy, in Paragraph 2.3, indicates that a violation of any section of the Providers Services Agreement can cause a provider to not be eligible for the program. The Stabilization Program goals are defined in this Manual as shown below in Paragraphs 1.0.2. and 1.0.3

- 1.0.2. West Virginia State Goals The primary goal of child care services is to provide experiences to children which will foster their healthy development while enabling their parents to participate in work or educational activities. The WV Child Care Stabilization Grant payment program will assist child care providers to continue to provide care and protection that a child receives from his parents.
- 1.0.3. Federal Goals The American Rescue Plan (ARP) Act Child Care Funding will support stabilization grants to child care providers to cover their operating expenses as they face less revenue and higher expenses during the pandemic.

Chapter 7 of the Policy provides that the child care specialist, in 7.1.2, shall collect information monthly from the Child care Resource and Referral Agencies regarding providers who have had their Providers Services Agreement revoked or received a strike and provide notice to providers whose stabilization payment will change based on information collected from the Referral

Agencies. Section 7.1.3 provides that the regulatory specialist will be responsible for sending notice of change in stabilization payments that occur as a result of negative actions, such as temporary closures due to complaint or IIU investigations. Under West Virginia law, a statute is vague as defined in *Gooden v. Board of Appeals*, 160 W. Va. 318 (1977) as follows:

The test of vagueness in the context of a statute or regulation designed to punish or discipline is whether a person of ordinary intelligence is given fair notice that his contemplated conduct is prohibited by such statute or regulation.

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