IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 22-ICA-54

ICA EFiled: Jan 17 2023 03:13PM EST Transaction ID 68906574

YMCA OF PARKERSBURG, Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

vs.

WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES, Respondent Below, Respondent

West Virginia Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General Board of Review Todd Thornton, State Hearing Examiner 1900 Kanawha Boulevard East Building 6, Room 817B Charleston, West Virginia 25305

RESPONSE BRIEF ON BEHALF OF WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES

Counsel for Petitioner

Respondent

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Following the presentation of evidence and testimony at the consolidated grievance hearings held in this matter, the Hearing Officer correctly upheld the WVDHHR's decision to issue strikes to each of the two YMCA facilities and to cease the stabilization payments. The weight of the evidence supports the decision of the Hearing Officer, and the decision was properly rendered. Next, Petitioner argues that WVDHHR suspended payments to it, a child care provider, as a form of penalty without basis to do so; however, by receiving a strike at each of its two facilities which are the subject of this appeal, Petitioner was no longer in good standing with its Provider Services Agreement and therefore was no longer eligible to receive the stabilization payments. Finally, WVDHHR properly ceased payment of the stabilization funds from the Federal Government because Petitioner was no longer eligible to receive those funds and is not a type of fine or penalty, nor was it clearly excessive.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner's arguments are not supported by the evidence and Petitioner fails to identify any prejudicial error. Consequently, oral argument is not necessary, and a memorandum decision affirming the ruling below is appropriate. *See* Rev. R.A.P. 21.

VI. ARGUMENT

Response to Assignment of Error No. 1

The Decision of August 3, 2022, made by Todd Thornton, State Hearing Officer, is supported by the evidence, clearly correct in view of reliable, probative and substantial evidence, and therefore should be upheld. This appeal is a consolidation of two cases that were consolidated for hearing and, ultimately, for this appeal. The evidence clearly supports that the WVDHHR properly terminated federally funded stabilization payments to the Parkersburg YMCA following the YMCA's termination of child care for Child LG and Child LW without a two-week notice and upon WVDHHR's proper issuance of a first offense "Strike One" corrective action against the YMCA.

The State Hearing Officer, as the trier of fact in the matter below, heard the testimony of each witness presented at the hearing and considered all evidence before rendering a written decision to uphold the WVDHHR's cessation of further stabilization payments to the YMCA. This instant case can be distinguished from *Sayre v. Roop*, 205 W.Va. 193 (1999) on its facts. In *Sayre*, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals upheld a trial court's decision to grant a new trial to the Plaintiff below, a correctional officer, against his former employer, the Regional Jail Authority and Defendant below, when there was clear evidence that the only reason Plaintiff was denied a transfer of employment to another correctional facility was due to his worker's compensation claim rather than not meeting the definition of an employee in "good standing". *Id.* In this matter,

Petitioner does not seek or request a new trial, but seeks to have the decision of the State Hearing Officer set aside and the judgement of the appellate court substituted for that of the trier of fact. The trier of fact, in this instant matter, listened to all the testimony presented and reviewed all the evidence presented and credibly found that the WVDHHR had met its burden of proof; therefore, the State Hearing Officer properly upheld the decision of the WVDHHR to cease stabilization payments to Petitioner based upon Petitioner no longer being eligible to receive those federally funded payments. Accordingly, the Decision of the Hearing Officer below should be affirmed.

Response to Assignment of Error No. 2

The actions of the WVDHHR in suspending the YMCA's stabilization payments for a first offense or "Strike One" were proper and supported by law and the authority of the Agency. In this matter, in order for Petitioner to receive the federally funded stabilization payments pursuant to the *American Rescue Plan Act, Child Care Funding*, it had to have a Provider Services Agreement that was in good standing pursuant to Chapter 2.2.4 of the West Virginia Child Care Stabilization Payment Policy & Procedure Manual. See *Petitioner's Brief*, Exhibit 1, p. 3. In the case of the stabilization payments, having a "Strike One" caused Petitioner to no longer be in good standing in its Provider Services Agreement and, therefore, not eligible for further stabilization payments for a period of one (1) year. As a result, the WVDHHR properly ceased federally funded stabilization payments to Petitioner.

Response to Assignment of Error No. 3

The actions of the WVDHHR were proper and lawful pursuant to the WV Child Care Stabilization Program, do not constitute an excessive fine or penalty, and therefore should be upheld. The federal funds in question, granted through the *American Rescue Plan Act, Child Care Funding*, were never intended to be a long-term funding source and were payments made to child care providers as a stop-gap during the COVID-19 pandemic. In this matter, Petitioner received a "Strike One" for its termination of two children without a two-week notice, a violation of its Provider Services Agreement. Although Petitioner was allowed to continue and be paid for its child care services via child care subsidy payments and its license was neither suspended nor terminated, this "Strike One" made Petitioner ineligible for federally funded stabilization payments pursuant to the policy developed for this specific federal grant. Contrary to the arguments of Petitioner and the cases cited in support of its argument, withholding stabilization funds was in compliance with the terms of the *West Virginia Child Care Stabilization Payment Certification Agreement* that Petitioner entered into with the WVDHHR and was neither a monetary fine nor was it excessive. *Petitioner's Brief*, Exhibit 2.

CONCLUSION/PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Based upon the arguments set forth above, the Department respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the Decision of the State Hearing Officer.

Respectfully Submitted,

WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES, Respondent

By Counsel,

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

/s/ Chaelyn W. Casteel Chaelyn W. Casteel, Esq. Assistant Attorney General W.Va. State Bar No. 7828 416 Adams Street, Suite 307 Fairmont, WV 26554 Direct extension: (304) 333-0014 Fax: (304) 367-2743 Chaelyn.W.Casteel@wv.gov